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NOTE FOR CONTRIBUTORS

Artictes are welecomed by the Hon. Editor to be considerved for publication in The Devon
Historian, Generally the length should not exceed 2,000 - 2,500 words (plus notes and
passibie illustrations), although much shorter pieces of suitable substance may also be
acceptable, as are items of information concerning museums, local socivties and partic-
ular prajeets being undertaken.

To asgist the work of the Edilor and the printers please ensure that contributions are
clearly typewritten, on one side of the paper only, with deuble spacing and adeguate
margins, and also, as far as possible, that the journal’s style is followed on such matters
as the restrained use of capital letters, initial single vather than double inverted com-
mas, the writing of the date thus egs 1T July 1897, ke,

BEFORE THE COAST GUARD

Rahert Perkins

The Coenst Guard was [ormed in 1822, But the development of a preventive waterguavd
bepan in the seventeenth century. There was a Custom House smack al Plymouth by 1683
and revenue sloops at Dartmouth and Hfracombe in 1698, when the need for ‘a stricter
guard ol the western coast during the high duties’ was met by establishing inove cusloms
officers, ineluding preventive and boat men, betweaen Teignmouth and Plymouth'. There
were similar periods of strengthened establishment during the eighteenth century”. But
preventive beats remained a responsibility of officials of the Customs ports.

The Preventive Waterguard

The higher duties imposed during and after the Revolutionary and Napoleonic Wars
caused an alarming increase in smuggling. Several descriptions of force were then
engaged in action against the smugglers. In March 1808 the Treaswry ordered 'a spe-
cial survey of the oflicers of the eustoms employed and stationed on Jand and water for
the prevention of smuggling™ In August 1809 proposals lor ‘great alterationy in the
waterguard of eruizers and preventive boats’ were approved’. The coast was to be divid-
ed into three districts each inspected and controlled by the commamder of a eruizer, The
south Devon coast came under Captain Blake of the Tiger, based al Cowes, with the
tenders Vighiure and Wolf;, Rose and Greyhound were to eruise between the Isle of Wight
and the Start and Swallow and Hind from Berry Head to Land's End. Noath Devon
eume under Captain Hopking of the Specclwell at Milford, with the tenders Batt and
Fox, the Dolphin and Shark were to cruise from Land's End Lo the Bristol Channel®.

The instruetion to district commanders to ‘institute ane general effective and inces-
sant superintendence and control on float over the whale of the service’ was new™ But
many of the preventive boat stations already existed or had been used in the past. The
south Devon coust wus ta be covered by a propoesed station at Bighury Bay and the
existing preventive hoals at Bridpart, Beer, Torerass and Cawsand Bay, Boats were pro-
posed for Clovelly, W guawd the coast frum Bude to Barnstaple, and at Porlock Point for
Morte Point Lo Watchet.

The Prevenlive Walerguard became etfeclive an 3§ July 1818, but Captain Blake had
already inspected the coast of south Devonin Mareh, in the revenue erutzer Swallow,
with the Plymouth lender Wilf. Caplain David Willians. At some ports and creeks pre-
ventive duty by Custom Heuse hoals was Lo conlinuee. In March 1814 the
Commissioners asked the Collector ot Davtmouth if the four-vared boat and four men
were sufficient at that port. He replied that “the boats and boatmen here are nol alto-
gether employed on Harbowr Duty, but also go to sea on the lockout for Smugglers, par-
ticularly if any are expectied on the eoast, They also act as watchmen, two of whom are
alternately ench night at the watch-house'. At Brixbham Captain Blake noted that the
boat of the Customs sitter and tide waiter was ‘so bad as not to trust themselves in'",
The need to build a six-oared boat for Brixham was under consideration vntil
November 1811 when the Commissioners ordered four-oared boats for service at
Brixham and Torgquay". Within the port of Flymouth, customs officers stationed around
the pstuavies of the Tamar and Plym included a four-oared boat’s erew at Oreston®.

There were several years of difficulty in manning, and in building watch and boat
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houses. But by Decomber 1813 Captain Blake had stations at Beer, Dawlish, Torepogg
and Hope Cove and reported that “the preventive boats and riding officers ave fully
ciquipped and on their station’. A seventh boabman was provided al each after July
L&15. [t appears that by then anothor boal was stationed in Bigbury Bay: later hath
Burgh [sland and Molhecombe came into consideration'™,

Naveal control of the revertae cruicers,

In March 1816 Parclisment voled to retain the war duty on imporls for five vears. The
Treasury was atarmaed by the enovmoeus inereasge and more daring character of the
smugglers let lonse by the termination of the war and the opportuntties provided by the
opening up of the Freneh eanst. The revenue eruizers were translerred to Lhe

Admiralby in the belel that it would add greatly to the efftcacy of their cxertions if

they were pul under maval watehfulness and discipling. The sorvicas o a number of
cruizers were to be dispenscd with and Lheir commanders appointed on half pay as
inspectors of distriels in o new Preventive Boat Service with mare boata't

Bul manv expertenced captaims of revenue vessels chose to leave the service rather
than come under naval control or accept apprintreats ushare, One notable loss was of
Captain Alexander Frazer, who was in commanit of the Hesy in Plymouth Sound and
Cawsand Bay (rom December 1787 until tnking veer the old Banger from Captain
Nathaniel Lane in July 1799, On the evening of Saturday 24 April 1802 4 new Ranger
af L6G tons and 14 guns was launchied from Parkins' dock-yird at Frank's Quarry,
Cremyll; i was veported that afler the launch Captain Frazer give soeold collation to a
number of ladies and gentlemen assembled vn the jovlul sceasion . [n June Ranger
sailod toe Deptford Lo be coppered and receive her guns. By Seplember she was eroising
againal Lhe smugplers on what was described ax her lacky station’, from the Start to
the Dadman and Lizard Poinl". Caplains Frazer, Blake and Hopkins undertook the
spreial survey of the Waterguard in 1808-9%. During 1810, Captain Frazer's inspreting
erujzer became the Lepwing, 124 tons, a fast safler built at Mevagissey in 1808, Barly
in 18131 he was appoinled inspecting commander of a new districl which included much
of the south consts of Devan and Carnwall, though revenue vessels eruising from
Weymouth as far as the Start remained for a while under Captain Blake, By 1816
Caplain Blake hud shilted from Cawes to Dover: the Plymouth distriet then exteaded
from Southampton to Scillv and the Channel Islands, Yel there was no place lor
Caplain Frazer aflter L816. SivJohu Ducleworth, the Port Admirval at Plymouth, report-
ed that ‘he represents himscll s degraded by the present wrangement from the rank
and station he has enjoved” and wis allowed Lo retive on full pay'™

Revenue vessels stativned between Land's End and Whitehaven, and formerly under
the inspecling commander at Millord, were attached to e Plymouath station atter 5
April 1816, Dut vessels whose ports of rendezvous were east of the weridian of the
Start wore now under the command of Sir Bdward Thorabrough at Porismauth, The
gquarterly returns of seizures for the Plymeuth station suggest that the navy proved as
effective as the revonue vessels, by intergepting vessvls at sew; but they did nol adapt
to the nature of duties on the coast or co-ordinate their actions with the preventive
boats. Admival Duckworth noted the problems of mixed erews and observed that Yin
revenue vessels the duties depended in a peculiar manner on the habits of the men™.
Naval control of the revenue vessels wag soon seen to be i ppriopriate,

Phe Proventive Hoot Seronee,
In Januney 1816 provision was made for an incrense of twenty-threee six-oared and
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thirty fouwr-cared hoals and 194 men, af which forty-eight were needed to bring the
existing establishment up e cight men for cach boat™, In February, Caplain JJM.
Flanchety was appointed Comptraller-General of the new Preventive Boat Service anud
commenced a thorough reorpanisation™ The stations wore Lo be increased in number
and formed into smalter districts, each under o resident ingpecting ecommander, Tn
February 1816 the Customs= were alowed o vehuild the watch house at Exmouth on
seeure ground using the materials of Che old house', bul tn December 1818 the
Treasury decided Lhat their proposals Tor o flookoul house' near Torquay was a matter
for Captain Hanchett®,

Captain Hanchett fivsl inspected the coast in the sunimer o 1814, I August the
Customs compinined thal he had not only inspected the preventive hoats but also thase
engaged in harbour duties ander Lhe laws of revenue and navigation: his suggestions
as tn Lhese hoats were inapplicable and would not be carried vut' {n November 1316
his ‘sugrgested mensures for the more effective prevention of smugding and rendering
the prevenlive hoat service efficienl’ were approved®. In September LELE it was
realised Lhat it wauld not be advisable to make a general change ol erows Trom ane stae
tion tre another undil the enating spring®. The priority was to combat Lthe increase of
smugrling in Cornwall, Norvfolk and the Isle of Wight. But in December 1816 the
inerense in Bighury Biy vequired an additional prevenlive boat to be stationed there
immediately. Al Bidetord Captain Hanchell thought that the hive of the pilot boal on
necasion might do (n 27 December 1816 he advised the Admivalty of his proposals Lo
station additional preventive hoats at '‘Burrough’ Island, Brixham, Budleigh Saltecton
and Lyme Cobb or Pier”. Premises were generally difticull o find, A supply of con-
demned vessels for use as wateh houses was vegquested<s. A barrack building at
Plymoutlh required extensive vepairs. In May 1817 it wax proposed to use part of the
former hospital attached o the harracks at Berry Flead for the Brixham preventive
boat's erew and in January 1818 premises wore betng sought for a watch houset,

Each station was Lo be equipped with a sis-onred galley aud a four-oared gig, build to
Lhe patiern of boals o secvice [rom the boat buikders of Neal: Hanchelt proposed that
nine of the totad requirement ol twenty-ime of cach of these elasses of boat should be
built in Plymouth Yard>, In Januvary 1817 he asked by i admirally cutter to take the
nine completed dixconred galleys [rom Plymonth to the different stalions where they
were required 1181 Admiral Duckworth consulted the Admiralty as w the proprioty of
delivering them L6 stations within the area of Admival Thornbrough's command.
including Brixham, Budleigh Salterton and Lyme.

Progress with the districts relied on the willingness of former commanders of rev-
cnue cruizers paicl ol in late L8116 and carly L3817 Lo accept pousts as inspecling cont-
manders ashore, Sowe appear to have Laken umbrage, The prospect of inspecting a
lengthy constiioe oo hall pay, an allowanee of 80 a year for o horse, and the promise of
a share of seizwres, was no indacement. On 2 January 1817 John Eales, lute coomvman-
der of the Aurm ab Padstow, wus appointed o No, 9 District, extending Dom St Alhan's
Head in Dorset to Rame flead in Corawall, He was required Lo veside ot Sidmauth, He
haut resigned by 24 Fibruary and was replaced by Captain Geovge 1ine who had been
appoinled inspecting commander of No. 12 District, from Trevose Head to Bristol, with
a residence ot Bideford, on 11 Januwary 1817, Captain Fline did nol Lake up either
post!.

Ny 24 May F8L7, Distriet No, 10 was to extead from St Alban's Head o Langstone
Roek, west of the Exe, under Mr. John Andrews al Bridport. The stations ineluded
Lyme Cobh, Beer and Budleigh Salterton, Districl Na. 1E was to extead [rom
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Langstone Rock to Portwrinkle with stations at Dawlish, Brixham, Toreross, Hope
Cove, Mothecombe, Yealm and Cawsand. The inspecting commander, Lt. . de
Montmorency, was to reside at Kingsbridge®. The revenue eruizer Wolf was paid off at
Plymouth au 13 March 1817 and Captain David Williams becane inspecting comman-
dor of District No. 14 at Padstow, extending from Land’s End to Havtland Point. My
Edward Morgan at Minehead was in command of Distvict No. 15 from Hartland Point
to Kingoud, Buistol; his only station in Devon was at Clovelly which guarded the const
‘fram Hartland Point to Watermouth Cove, round Lundy Island and up the Barnstaple
and Bideford rivers”. The erection of 2 wateh and heat house at Clovelly was approved
an 10 March 1817, but men were stationad there from January™,

In November 1817 Captain Hanchett advised the Admiralty that he had found it
expedient to make a new arrangement?, The Bridport district remained unchanged hut
the guard was strengthened further west, The establishment of a preventive heat ata-
tion with eight men at Salcombe was approved in September 1817 L. de
Montmorency shified to Brixham and Burgh Island became the western Lit of his
command. In January 1816 it was reported that one of the plans under consideration
was to employ ships” boats to watch the varipus creeks and lakes in the vicinity of Lhe
naval ports®. A force of this kind appears to have been established at Plymouth Dock
under Captain C.8. White BN "Yor Port Wrinkle and the adjacent rivers”. Bul a
Plymouth district of the Proventive Boat Service was now established, to extend from
Burgh Island to ‘Candis Point’ with stations ot Mothecombe, Yealm, Cawsand,
Portwrinkle and Polperre. Lt. George Brooks Foster BIN was appoinled inspecling offi-
cer on 30 October 1817, Thi guird of the Yealm stution extended up the Plym.
Cawsand guarded the coast ‘from the Rame to Drake’s Esland, up the Tamar, Saltash
and other vivers and St. John's oreek’.

Men were also stationed at one or two places not inchuded in the lists of districts and
stations prepared by the Compbraller-General's otfice. Bovisand Bay was manned by
June 1817 and Prawle by May 1818 In the Padstow districl the coast from Bude
Haven to Hartland Point was guarded by men at Hartland Quay from March 1817, the
station was not ineluded in the Hats aanti! Feliruary 1819 and the establishment was
withdrawn before 15225

During 1818 adjustnients were made Lo the extent of guard of stations {see table),
Barly in 1819 the Deputy Comptroller-General, Lt. James Dombrain, surveyed the
vousts ol Devon and Dorsel’. Babbacombe was included in the list of stations in
February 1819%. Tt was to guard the coast ‘from Stokeinteigm Head to Paignton’; previ-
ously Hlopes Nose had marked the boundary between the Dawlish and Brixham sta-
Lions. Substantial changes were made to the Bridport district. A district station was
established at Sidmouth, extending westwards to the River Teipn. Men were stationed
there by March 1819 and an inspecting officer, Commander Thomas Gallwey BN, by
August's. In 1821 Commander Gallwey moved te Fowey. It was then decided that the
inspecting commander would veside in future at Exmouth, new the port ol rendezvous
of the revenue cutter Seowrge™.

Saveral new stations were established in 1820, Torquay was manned by 1 Novemben
A stution was established at Dartmouth, where preventive duties by Costom House
bouts presumably eeased, and at Challaborough and Hfracombe=. No new stations
appear to have been established in 1821.The recommendation of the Prince Regent's
Independent committee of inguiry to return to the previous unified contral ot preven-
tive hoats and revenue vessels under the Board of Customs was approved on 15
January 1822, The new service was to be called the Coast Guard and s first
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Comptroller-General, Captain Willlam Bowles RN, was appointed in July 1822, Men
had been stationed al Teignmouth inJanuary 1822 and during the year a station was
finally cstablished at Bxmouth. In 1820 the Coast Guard commenced an extensive
building programme, mostly on siles secving the stations it had inherited from the

Prevenlive Boat Service,

Extent of Guard of Preventive Boat Stations, 1817-1818.

24 May 1817: 5 November 1817: # February 181%:
District Limits District Limits District Limits
& Station  of Guard & Station  of Guard & Station of Guard

Bridport Bridport Bridport
(parth {pare): fpanth
Entrance te Entranee to
Bridport Betddport Shoen Cliff (0
Havbour Harbowr
Liyme Cobly Lyme Cobh Lyme Caobly
Seaton Heatan Asmauth
Bewr Beer RHeer
Otterton Otterton Suleambe
Pl Paint Mouth
Budleigh Budleigh Budleigh
Salterton Saltertoen Salterton
FangXleny Langstone Entrance of
Ruoek Rock River Bxe
Kingsbridge: Brixhan: Brixham:
Dawlizh Plawlish Dawlish
Hopes Nase Hopes Nose Stokeinteign-
head
Babbacombe
. Paipnton
Brivham Brixham Brizham
Stoke Fleming Stoke Fleming Stoke Fleming
Torerass Tareross Toreross
Prawle Point Portlemouth The Start
Salcombe Saleontbe
Belt Tail
Bolt Head Bult Nead
Hope Cove Hope Cove Hope Cove
Thurlestone Wiest side of Thurlsstong
River Burgh Island River
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24 May 1817;

5 Novembher 1817:

§ February 1819:

District Limits District Limits District Limits
& Station  of Guard & Station  of Guard & Station of Guard
Plymouth: Plymouth:
Mothecombe Mothecmnbe Matheconhe
Mewstone Mewstong Stake Point
Yealm Yealm Yialmy
Drake’s [sland Drake’s Istand Entrance of
{Caltewater
Drake’s Island
Cawsand Cawsanl Cawsond
Portwrinkle Rame Head Rame Head
Portwrinkle Purbwrinkbe
Luoe Iland Looe Island
Polperro Polperrs
Candis Point (b} {Candis Point
Padstow * Padstow Padstow
{(part): {parth {part):
Tintage! Head  Tintage! Head Bude Haven
Boscastle Boscastle Hartland
Quay
[artland Flartland Hartland
Paint Point Point
Minehead Minehead Minchead
{part): {part}: (part):
Clovelly Clavelly Clovelly
Watermouth Watermouth Watermonth
Cave Cove Cove
Porlack Partack Porlock
Quay Quay Quay
Stert [sland Stert [sland Lilstock

Note {a) below Golden Cap, south-west of Chideock
{13) presumalbly Cannis Rock, east of Griblin Head

Sources: Comptroller-Generals lists in ADM 1/1954,1955
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THE GUBBINGS: FACT, FICTION
AND THE PARISH REGISTERS,

8. Bhanji

[t ts helieved by many that o band of outlaws known as the Gubbings onee lived o
Dartmoor. An often repeated view is that which appeared in the 1856 edition of Murray's
handbook of Devon and Corawall: the Crubbings were a band of thieves who took advan-
tage of the breakdown of law and ovder during the Lime of Charles T and lived in and
avound Lydford Gorge uneer the leadership of one Roger Rowle!,

The carlinst known references 1o the Gubbings both date from the seventeenth century,
One is presented as a Fctual account=. The other oceurs in a work of the Tavistock-horn
poct Willinm Browne. The latter, Lvdford Journey, is variously desertbed as a satirieal
sketeh, a Juxuriont faney, and a sad vetlection of what was once a major town €30,

Thomus Fuller's History of the Warthies of England was published in 1662, The follew-
ing is taken from the section cancerning Doevenshive (41

The Clrehbings

So now [ dare enll thern tecewred by distance) which one of more valour durst
not do e their Foce, (s B thonr Roey (sl apan him, Yet hitherto have Unet with
uone, whoe could render a reason of their Name, We call the Shaoings of Fish
(which are little wortly) Gubbings; and surve it is they are sensible that the Wonel
impovteth shame and disgrace, As for the suggestion of my worthy and tearnedd
Iriend, bovrowed (rom Buxtorfins, that such who &id (ndicebitare montes gif-
horosos, weve called Gbbings, such will smile, al the Tngeraity, who dissent from
the truth, of the Kownedogy.

[ have vead of an England heyond Wedes; but the Gubbings-Land s o Sevthia
within Kngland, and they pure Heathens therein, It lyeth nigh B Tor, in the
vdgr of Daremore. [t 18 reported, that some twe fundred years since, fien
Streenpets being with child, Aed hither to hide themselves, to whom certain lewd
Fellows resorted, and this was their Fiest Original. They ave a Peeuliae of their
uwn mauking, exempt from Sishop, Arch-Deacon, and all Autherity cither coclesi-
astical or Civil: They live in Cotfs (vather Holes than Houses) like Swine, having
all in conmuon, medtiplied without Marriage inte many Hundreds: Their lan-
guiige is the drosse of the drogs of the Vidgor Devondan, and the more learmed o
wan is, the worse he can understand then, During our Civil Wars, no Soulediers
wire yrartered amongst them, for fear of heiug quartered amongst them. Their
Weedth consiateth in other mens goods, and Giey live by stealing the Sheep on the
More; and vain it is for any to =eacch theiv Houses, being a Worl beneall Lhe
paing of a Sheriff, and above the Power af any Constable. Such theiv Fleetnesse,
they will sutrun many Horses, Vicacingsiesse, they outlive sost men: living in
the Ignorance of Luxery, the Extinguisher of Lite, They hold together hike Burrs:
offend One, and Al will revenye s Quanrrel.

But now I am informed, that they hegin Lo be civilized, and tender their
Children to Baptizme; nud relurn to be men, yea Cheisttans again: [ hope no
Civit people amongst us will Lirn Berborias, now these Bearbarians begin to be
elvilized,

10

In il ([ullest known version, Lydford Jowrney consists ol twenty verses®, The first, which
refers Lo the prevemptory justice said to be meted oud at Tydiord ULydford law'), s praba-
Bly the most familiae Of the rest, two concern ‘the Gubbing’

And near hereto’s the Gubbins cave;

A people that no knowledge have
Of law, or god, or men:

Whom Caesar never vet subdued;

Who lawless live: of manners rude;
All savage in their den,

By whom, — if any pass that way,
He daves not the least time to stay,
For presently they howl;
Upon which sigmal they do muster

Their nalked forees inoa cluster,
Led (orth by Roger Rowlo,

The writer has been unable to Lrace any published account of the Gubbings which does
not depend ultimately on these of Browne and Fuller: Leland, writing in the sixteenth cen-
try, made no reference to a wild, lnwless peuple livieg on Dratmoor, Neither Risdon nor
Pole, whose bves overlapped these ol Browne and Fuller, mentioned the Gubbingy, Celia
Fiennes travelled through Devon in 1698, a5 did Daniel Detoe o little over twenty years
later. Although both were seckevs alter the unusnn] and interesting, it appears that nei-
ther came across the Gubbings®,

No source was cited hy Fulier lor his linowledge of the Gubbings. Rowe assumed that he
haard of them while in Exeter in 16041847, I is pogssible that Fuller came to know of
Browne'’s poem, bul il would detract from his accouat if whal Westeote reparded as apap-
ular tavern song was its sole mspiration®, Discrepancies between Fuller's version and
Browne’s suggest that they arosc independently. As well as spelling the tribe'’s nune difler-
ently, Fuller mentioned the Civil Wars and the beginnings of the Gubbings’ return Lo a
vivilised life. He said nothing of Roger Rowle, and Browne did not refor ta the =lrunipets.

Whatever their origin. Fuller's comments were soon disputed, Although early editions of
Camden’s Britamda contained no reference to the Gubbings, Gibsoen in his revized and
enlarged version of E893 natetl a village close to Brent Tor ealled The Gubhins, He went on Lo
state that Fuller was o eeror in deseribing its inhabitants as particeiarly lawless. This was
repeated by Gough in o later edition, bul he acknowledged Fuller's statement that the
Ciuhbings were dying out'. The Plymouth surgeon and diarist James Yonge visited Brent
Tarr isicl in VAT He regarded the inhabitants as ‘rude and brutish’ but believed that Fuller
exnggernted theiv suvagery and immorality, There has been disagreement also over Browne's
account. An early printed vorsion does not contain the verses above; nor do Lhey apprar in a
major compilation of the poct’s warle published in the lagt century and based on manuseripts
caid to be iy Browne's hand™. Confusion over the original form of Lydford Journey has been
compounded by dilfering opinion as to when it was written. According to Worth, Browne
wrote the poem after visitmg a fiend imprisoned in Lvdford Castle during the Civil Wae
Rowe believed that it was composed in around 1644, Neithor gave the sources of their infor-
mation, bul the visit of Browne to Lydfiad Castle had featured in a wark of historical fiction
in which it was stated also that Lydford Jorerney was coneeived in around 1644, Browne's
puem, however, ocewns in Westeote's View of Deeon, o work which it is generally thought was
completed in 1830, The nineteen verses include these concerning the Gubhbins'-,
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Despite doubts over the eviginal aceounts, belief in the Gubbings lives ont, However,
muich now sterns from fictional embellishment rather than recorded history. The Gubbings
and Roger Rowle play a signal part in Anna Bliza Brav's Worleigh, firs published in 1834,
According to this story of deceit and fove sel in the time of the English Civil Wars, the
Ciuhbins began their outlaw existence when the fumily and other velatives of a prosperous
Lydford yeoman, John Gubbins tool to Dartmaor to escape trom Royalist troops led by Sir
Richard Grenville. Sir Richard had a reputation for rapacity, and would imprison
Parliamentarian and Royalist alike in order to exact a hefty ransom. One of his olficers
seduced the eldest daughter of Juhn Ciubbing, When the anxious and outraged father com-
plained, the offteer persuaded Grenville to arvest Gubbing and his sons ag suspected
Papists, They were imprisoned in Lydford castle, but soon set free as the vesolt of & raid
led by Roger Rowle, a rejected suitor of the daughler Despile being hidden on Dartmaoor,
John CGubhins wus recaplured and hanged — by his daughter's seducer and within full view
of the house i1 which she was being kept. Swearing on the Blessed Virging Rowle promised
revenge. Although at lirst they lived primarily by this vow, in the end theh- enforeed isola-
tion drove the Gubbins o indizeriminate lawlessness, Aceounts of the Gubbings being par-
ticularly fearsome during the time of the Civil Wars may owe much to Bray. As regards
Rowle, Bray described him as lall, stout, black-haived, reckless in bravery, loyal to his
Iriends, and a man of his word. I Lydford Journey was intended primarily as sative, it is
nol impossible thal the real Roger Rowle was no more than o well-known Tocal wealdling'.
Although Chardes Kingsley gave them only & minor role in Westiward Ho!, which appeared
in 1853, this also stimulaled popular lore concerning the Gubbings. Set in Elizabelhan
Limes, one passage describes the slaying of their king by Salvation Yeo al the Rogues’
Harbour Inn near the Gubbings' settlement by Brent-Tor. As a vesull the story grew that
the Gubbings' leader was killed at the Dartmoor Inn, Lydford and les beneath tls (oo,
Kingsley, like Bray, mentioned Catholic sympathizers among the Gubbings, Both may
have fostered the suggestion that the Gubbings' return to Christianity and civilisation was
hastened by Jeauit priests taking refuge among them™.

Lintil recently, the only support for the Gubbings ever having existed devived from
uneorvaborated anecdote. During the fivst half of the nineleenth century, Bray deservibed
hearing firom those whe could recall people named Gubbing living near Brentor in the late
17005 and being somewhal unruly. These were still in existence in the 18308, by which
tire they had sequived the name cramp-caters after the poor quality of their buns and
akes. Half a cenlury later, Worlh staled that. families bearing the name CGubbings contin-
ned Lo dwell on Dartmoor, En 1900 Baring-Gould wrote that the descendants of Fuller’s
Crubbings were still stealing sheep, cattle and young horses from the fringes of the moor',

It appears Lo have been not until 1986 that verilinble evidence in favour of the
subbings” existence was provided, Starkey drew attention to the grave in Bridestowe
churchyard of the hushand and wite Willinm and Martha Gubbins who were buried in
1794 and 17972 respectivelyt, The present writer has perused the swrviving registers and
bishop's transcripts of the parishes in which the Gubbings' terrvitory was said to He,
Lydford and Brentor, firom their inception to the early years of the nineteenth centiny
Those of the neighbeuring parishes — Seurton, Bridestowe, Lewtrenchard, Covyton, Mary
Tavy and Peter Tavy - have been examined also,

The existing Lydford parish register dates from 1786, but relevant entries ave not found
until sdmost a century later. These refer to the baplisms between 1806 and 1815 of five
children of the miller William Gibbings of Lyd{ord Milt and his wife Elizabeth. The
Bishop's transcripts date from 1610, Although incomplete and in places illegible, these

i3

shed possible Hght on Rogee Rowle, Among the burials listed are those of Margery Rowle
in 1626 (7}, Richard Rowle on 3 April 16683, Joha Rowell on 20 April 1664 and the widow
Agmis Howle on 18 April 1866"™, The carliost existing volume of the register for Brentor
parish tovers Lthe period 1720-1812, and the episcopal transceripls commence svith 1606,
There is no record of Gubbings or auy similar surname™,

As regards Lhe peripheral parishes, the register and transcripts of Smurton cach mention
Lhe marviage of William Gubbins to Martha Pidler on 8 November 1745, dintries in the
Bridestowe register commence witht698, and Lhe bishop’s transeripts date from 16089, As
waoll as the records of the burials of the William and Martha meniioned by Starkey, there
are a number of entries which eoncern people named Gubbins, There is a nole also of the
death of & Mary Gubbyn in 1675 The first record of inlevest is of the marviage of Leonard
Gubbins in June 16868, His fust child, Mavy, died an infant: but the second. also named
Mary, may be the woman who marrvied Thomas Major in 1713, The bhaptism of Grace,
daughter of John and Mary Cubbing was recorded in 1698, and that of their son Leonard
Lwo yeaus later [t is possible that it was Grace who marvied Richard Gent at Bridestowe in
1739, The wife of another Leongrd Gubbins gave bivth to three sons: Leonard in 1711,
Wiltiam in 1714, and Thomas in 1718, The second of these is the William Gubbins buried in
1794, Thomas died as an infant, and none of the younger Leonards had issue baptised at
Bridestowe, However, William and his wife had two daughters and then a som baptised
between E74d and 1756, One of the daughters may be the Martha Gubbing who married
John Newton in 1775, Other entries of note coneern the weddings of Elizabeth Cubbing to
William Guscotl in 1676 and of Mary Gubbins to John fiviend in 17304

Fantries in the Lewtrenchard regisler begin with the baptisms of 1706, but marriages
and burials ave nol vecorded until (713, The earliest bishops transeript is dated 1610, The
Corgton register and its bransceripts date [rom 1654 and 1603 respectively. The Mary Tavy
register commenced in 1560, Bntries copied for the bishop have suwrvived from 1613, The
firat three registers of Peter Tavy were compiled belween 1879 and 1813, and the bishop's
transeripts date from 16814, Nedther the name Gubbings nor any obyvious vactand appesns
i those recordss.

Examination of the appropriate parish recovds has revesled Lhal during the seven-
teenth centiry and later people named Gubbing, Gubbyn or Gibbings were living in the
broad area inhabited by Browne’s Gubbins and Fuller’s Gubbings, The yecords do not sug-
gest an influx seeking baptism at around the time Fuller was writing, but give some cre-
dence to Browne's rdenlifidation of their leader and his spelling of the tribe’s name.
Although modest, it is hoped that the Gndings will go some way towards adding a little
maore fact to the lietion which surrounds the Gubbings,
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Proul described his journey home and his future artistic inlention in & letler Lo
Britton of which the followiog s an exlract® ‘On Friday morning, afler an unpleasant
Journey, [areived al Plymouth, nol withowt feeling muech fatigue; the coach being bad
but the reads worse, The weather have beon very unpleazant, T hope the latler part of
your journey has proved better than the former. The remembrance of Ruan will never
be eradicated from my memory. [ am al prosent very busy learning perspective. When
better qualified to draw butldings,  will visit Launceslon, Tavistock, &e, and try to
make some correel sketches which may be proper for the “Beauties”. My father is much
abliged for yowr atlentions to me, as [ am, though conselous of my unworthiness. [ hope
you will favour me soon with the loan of a portfolio of drawings which you kindly
promised Lo lend me to copy’.

Prout was also encouraged by Ambrose Bowden Johns, seven vears his senior, who
had an associalion, too, wilh Haydon the bookseller, for he was al one time apprenticed
Lo him. Tt is recorded’ that Johns upon examining the young Prout's skelehes and notic-
ing Lhe power shown in the drawing of old cotlages and mills advised him Lo become a
painter of architecture rather than of landseape. In his Devon works Prout was neither
a pure landscape arlist nor a topographical dvasghtsman. His subjects generally con-
tain somelhing man-made, either a building or shipping, architeeture in a wide sense
was seldom absent. {Later, in bis continental scenes, true landscape was geldom pre-
senl). '

Prout worked hard and fast in hig®attempt to improve his skill in topographical
drawing for it was as earvly as May in 1802 that he sent te Britton sketehes of
Launceston, Tavistock, Okchampton Castle and other places manifesting, as Britton
says’, very considerable improvement in perspective lines, proportions and architec-
tural details, Some were engraved for the Beaufies of Engloand and Wales, volume v
and some for The Antiguarian and Topographical Cabinet”.

{n 1802 Prout determined to try his fortune in London and stayed with Britton at the
Iatter's dwelling, 21 Wilderness Row, Geswell St In the following year he had his first
read suceess, his picture ‘Bennet's Cottage on the Tamer near Plymouth’ being hung at
the Royal Academy and his address given os 1 Waler Streel, Brideswell Precinet.
During his time wilth Britton he wos employed in copying some of the best sketches and
drawings possessed by Britton including some by Turner, Hearne, Alexander,
Mackenzie and Cotman. He was also inbroduced to Begjamin West” who gave him valu-
able advice on the principles of Hght and shadow. In 1805 he was forced o return
through ill-health to Devon. A letter writlen at Plymouth by Proud to Tritton dated 16
October 18056 and quoted by the weiler 4.1, Rogets, shows something of his travels in
Davtmoor: ‘T am just returned afier a months visit te the Dartmeors.  feel much
strength from the influence of its pure aiv, and little Prout stands as firm as a Hon, My
abject has not been so much to make sketches as to find health. She lives on the high-
est torrs. | have her blessing.

“T'he subjects in my portfolio ave generally rock-sgenery, most of them colord and
highly finished from nature. In my excursions on the moor from Torr-royal [ saw sever-
al stone erosses, but most of them very plain. Piles of stone, very like cromlechs, but
probably only known to the tinners or shepherds for shelter [ must not omit Lthe men-
Lion of one days adventure in particudar: A gentleman and myself, in apite of every
remonsbrance took horses to explore some parts of the moor, which is destitute of any
habitation. To the surprise of maay, our resolution carried us over its dangers and diffi-
culties lor twelve miles, not a trace of any road or footstep. [ eannot deseribe the
scenery as it impressed my mind. Masses of vock (to which the Cheeswring is a pebble)

18

o

crowning every hill and broken in the valley, like the desolated ruins of an extensive
city-hogs two and three miles in width — angry rivers foaming over broken paths ol
rock, awfully grand of tl=elf, but as o whele move g0 from the terrvific and savage wild-
ness of ifs hills and vales. We found move trouble to lead our horses, than in finding our
own safety. 1 was at the rise of the Rast and West Ouk, Taw , and Dart rivers, Night
coming on - our fears troubling lest a mist should close on us, made us haste our sleps
to something Hke civilisation - & moor-cotlage — bul these are far (rom it in many
respects. Unexpectedly we saw a very earious druidical cirele {a proof with the erosses
thal Dartmoor was once ot least partially inhabited, and might be known to the
ancient Britong). [ had not time (o sketch, but it was double, cach civele of about thivty
stones, most of which were standing, and of the same proportion as the Hurlers-thug'
there foltowed a plan of two circles touching) ‘tis very perfoct, and very conspicuous’,
The surface of the moor 1s generally marked with rock of various sizes, but where the
etreles remain, scarce a chance stone is seen for a quanter ol a mile. [ was much pleased
with the slight obsecvance of I, but sorry [ was so circumstanced that every moment
wis precious for our safely. I have made sketches of the vale ab Lidlord, OQakhampton
and castle, the eross and chapel at South-Zeal, Crediton, the Logan stone&e. Cold
ains now keop me within doors, my time is industriously [illed in preparation for a
school, whon settled T am al your service, and will forward something for the Beaulies’,

Probably Prout remained in Plymouth for two or three years bul ink808 he was
residing at 55 Poland 34, London. In1 808 from that address he exhibited his fivsl work
at the British Institution. ‘The Water-Mill and Manor Flouse near Plymouth’. [n the fol-
lowing year ftis name first appears in the catalogue of the third exhihilion of the
Assoctated Artists in Water Colours held at 16 Cld Bond St, Limdon where he had ten
exhibits 1 all, six of Devonshire and two of Cornwall, the first Devonshire exhihit
being ‘Radford Mill', In that year too, he married Elizabeth, daughter of Captain
Gillespie, a Covnish shipowner and settled at 4 Brixton Place, Stockwell, London™, This
period of time was clearly a busy one for Prowt who was also engnged in teaching and
produced many educational books which were published by R, Ackermann, 1 Strand,
London.

In {813 a sel ol eleven coloured plates deawn and etched by Prout and mostly of
Bevon and Corawall cottages was published by T. Palser, Surrey Side, Westminster
with lhe title ‘Prout’s Vilage Scenery’. In 1815 he {irst appeared as an exhibitor at the
Society of Painters in Gl and Water Colours” with a view '‘Near Plymoulh and on 29
June 1819 was elected a Member In all he exhibited 558 pictures Lhere and additional-
Iy 30 works at the Associated Artists in Water Colours of which Society he was elected
a Member in 1810, The griat majority of exhibits al both socicties were not of the
Westeountry, the last explieit Devimshive view being ‘On the Lid in 1822 some 28 years
prior to his last exhibit.

I 18 clear lrom contemporary and later accounis that Prout’s skill lay in depicting
the picluresque in architecture and placing it in a natural context. His style was large
aud simple but he was capable ol showing precise archileclural detail. His waler-
eolours are essentially pen or pencil drawings tinted with sepia, brown or grey but he
alza painted @ little in oils. Lockett gives a detailed accound of his techniques.

In 1818 Prout made his first trip to Novmandy which was succeeded by many move.
In L1828 his reputation, already high, was enhanced by his appointment as Painter in
Water-Colours in Orvdinary to the King, and this was continued in the fater reign of
Queen Victoria, In the following year he was elected a Fellow of the Society of
Anbiquaries. He died of o stroke on the % February 1852 at 5 de Crespigny Terrace,
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Denmark Hill, Camberwell.

Major colleclions of hig works arve to be scen in Devon at the North Devon
Athenaeum, Barnstaple, the Roval Albert Memorial Museam, Exeter and the
Plymouth City Museum and Arvt Gallery.

EXHIBITS BY SAMUEL PROUT AT THE ROYAL ACADEMY

Address 180 Weeter St Bridewell Precinet
663 1803 ‘Bennet’s Cottage on the Tamer near Plymouth’
862 1804 S Keyvnes Well, Comwall®

479 1805 ‘Oakhampton Castle, Devonshire’ ’ 1
481 " ‘Tarleigh Castle, Somersetshire’ i
443 " “The Grand Poreh to Malmesbury Abbey Church, Wiltshire’ A

. I‘r'
Address 58 Poland St

A4l 1808 “View o Dartmoor, Devon’

560 K ‘Arthur's Castle at Tintagel, Cornsall’

263 1809 “The Birthplace of Sir. J. Revnolds, Plymplon, Devon’
180 1810 “Tavistock, Devow’

Adldress 7 Buxton Place, Stockuoel!
436 1812  ‘Berry Castle Mill, Devart'
504 ! ‘Freshwater, [sle of Wighl'

510 ! Tavistock Abbey, Devorn’

514 ! ‘Tremarton, Devon'

884 1813 Zeal, Devon’

712 ! ‘A Calny’

726 ! ‘5t Michaels Mount, Cornwall’
777 ! View near Liskeard, Cornwall’
782 ! View of Liskeard, Cornwall
786 ! ‘5t Ives, Cormwall’

787 ! ‘Freshwater Bay, ksle of Wight'

658 1814 View of the Dart at Totness, Devon'

EXHIBITS AT THE BRITISH INSTITUTTON

Address 58 Poland Street

261 1809 “The Waler-mill and Manor House near Plymouth’ N
202 1810 ‘Sketeh of the Fire at Billingsgate’
317 " ‘A Bea Shore, near Teignmoeuth’ \
Adcfress A Brixton Place, Stockueall

ah7 1814 ‘Margam, South Wales'

620 " ‘Hulks at Plymouth’

651 " ‘View of Monmouth’

/94 1817 ‘A Wreck at Cromer’

268 1826 “The Ducal Palaee, Venice'
5h3 1827  “Temple of Pallas, Rome’
5568 " ‘Hotel de Ville, Ghent’

Notes and References
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11,

Ruskin, J. At Jowrnal 1849 p.76,77.

The Reverend Bidlake was Master of Plymaoull Grammar School from 1779 to
1811, The schonl was [obunded in 1561,

Loekett, R, Samue! Prout, Batsford and Victoria and Albert Museum, London
1985,

John Britton and Edward Wedlake Brayley had published, in 1809, by Vernon
Haood, Longman volume iv of the Begutios of England and Wales which deal with
Devonshire and Dorsetshire and included 21 plates.

Britton, J. Art fournal 18562 p. 188

Roget, 4. L. History of the Old Watercolour Sociefy, 1891 p.346-9.

Pyerolt, G. Art in Devonshive, Heary S Eland, Exeler 1883,

West, born in Pennsylvania in 1738, was one of the founder members of the Royval
Academy and, on the dealh ol Sir Joshua Reynolds in 1792, was elecled
President.

Prout was clearly in the vicinity of Cranmere Pool and the double civele must
have been the Grey Wethers., R, Flansford Worth in his Dartmoor published io
1981 calculated from cirele diameters that there would originally have been 29
stones in the north civete and 33 in the south, very close to Prout’s estimate in
1806,

Cuigley, o). British Artists: Prout and Roberts, Allan & Co, London 1926,

The Soctety of Painters in Oil and Water-Colours was known by that name from
1813 to 1820 having been reconstituted from the Society of Painters in Water-
Cotours which was extant from LB0S to LELZ. Afler 1820 the sociaty reverted Lo
its original Lille and to the practice of showing only Water-Colours. The
Assoviated Artists in Waler-Colours was a shoct-lived rival lasling onty lrom
L808 to 1812,






1821. From this bridge a road continues to a poeint south of Totnes on the Totnes-
Kingsbridge voad, but in 1825 a three mile diversion was made just north of Sandwell
to run directly to the town via Folluton. Green was asked to supervise Lhe construction
of a new bridge over the River Harbourne at SX 7875884 eliminating a steep entry
from the Kingsbridge road to Tolnes.

The importance of this additional length was that a high standard turnpike road
with easy gradients was then available from Plymouth diveetly to Totnes. The construe-
tion of a line three-arch town bridge over the River Dart in Totnes by Charles Fowler in
1828 removed all river cvossing difficulties between Plymouth and Torbay. Today this
route from Laira to Fotnes is very suitable for the privale motorist travelling from
Plymouth te Torbay, Unfortunately it is not cearly marked as a through roule hecause
of Lhe wish of the highway authority Lo persuade the drivers of heavy goods vehicles to
take routes more suitable for their seemingly ever increasing size and weighdl.
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MICHAEL EVENS, VILLAGE CONSTABLE,
TAILOR AND SMUGGLER

A. L.Sayers

This remarkable character had the wit to keep a diary in the carly nineteenth century
andl his paradexical occupations and movements are an interesting reflection on the
attitudes of the time. Qutwitting the excisemen was a fabr iF illegal, gamble by
respectable citizens including the clergy.

Michael Evens eamed his Hving partly by travelling around the parish of Holbeton,
South Devon making clothes for its inhabilants, paclly by smuggling, and partly by
being the vilage constable. His story starts in 1834' when he was twenty-seven years
old when he boarded a vessel called the Juene A in August al Wadum {Wadbami,
joined four brothers at Cawsand and sailed 1o Roseoil. There they met, amongst others,
a spiril merchant by the name of Malleboy with whom they promised to ‘deal hon-
ourably” ‘T counted a range of pipes in the cellar which amounted to 88.. two very large
valts eontaining twelve tuns of brandy each’.

They loaded their cargo, and sailed comfortably home until *we discovered land and
goon recognised it ta be the Bolt. The wind now began to imerease vapidly.and we were
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obliged to vetire further from the shove before daylight to prevent our being discovered,
*Towards dusk we began Lo proceed slowly and cautiously towards the land and about
&4 in the evening arvived at the shore..and after some trouble effected owr purpose to
the no small satisfaction of myself and crew...we were clear of everyting seizable in Lthe
Boat and proceeded without delay to Plymouth’.

Then in 1836 he kept a diary’ for a couple of years of his daily doings. ‘At Lambside
to measuwre Robt. Giles [or a coat and breeches. In the evening went to Tadymoor with
2 things for Northmore'. ‘Things’ of course reler to contraband, usually either brandy or
Lobacco. Thomas Hardy in his Dorsel stories used the same word.

And so it continues ‘Februarvy 17th, Carswell at work, io the evening making
enguiries concerning the money stole firom Mary Easlen...the sum being 23£"

Mareh 8vd ‘In the evening at Kingston 1o meel Steer & Heard of 75 of his things
heing dashed in pieces against the rocks on the Tuesday before’,

March 4th ‘Church Wardens meeting for making new rate. 10, A daughter born
about eleven in the forenoen, in the afternoon spreading old thateh over the orchd,
19...at 5t Anchorist on account of the Eliza’s carge but was prevented doing anything
by the cutter’,

March 27th Sunday. ‘My daughter christened after evening sevvice and named after
my two wives Elizabeth Jane (may she resemble them both for amicableness of disposi-
tion).

barch 29th ‘At Ridgewsny Sessions with Precypss and to be resworn Constable of the
Pavish of Holbeton this being the time that the new Highway Act takes place’.

April 4th ‘Bent after in morning by H. Tonkin Esgre to remove his servant H. Stone
from his house on doing which he and I was serenaded with music on his departure
from Pamfleet by all the worlmen and boys on the premises, rattling and banging old
tin: kettles and pans and marching after him across the meadow received a erown from
H. Tonkin for my trouble, cul a waisteote for Smith, sowed Tnion Seed in Lhe evening
at Noss and got 2 of Ju. Rowe's Spiril things which was brought home in the Car.

April 9th “Writing bills and receiving cash from zale in the evening near Stoke
Church and landed about 41 of the Eliza's things’ However laler thal month the
Revenue must have discoverad part of the cargo and even Michael Bvens had to shout
mutder on being accosted by the Revenue QOfficers,

On May 1st theve was a great fire in Holbeton which ‘originated at My, Rabbich's
Bake House and eansumed all the houses from theve to the top of the street being 13
houses leaving 63 persons destitute of Habitation..”,

June 10 was Holbeton Fair ‘premiums awarded for the best cattle’.

June 15 'landed part of Hawks {cargo) at Caulston’. And so it goes on — a delightlul
mixture of making and mending clothes and smugeling with oceasional constabulary
wark thrown in.

And he gol around too. ‘July 6 lelt England tor Guernsey in the Steam Packet with
Jane and returned on the 15th ollowing’. On Seplember 26 he bought a 3 year old pony
for £8.

1838 Feb 13 ‘Walked home firom Plymoulh in the snow’.

Z4th ‘At Carswell to work. Captain Bignell gave me 2 sovereigns for writing
accounts. At night a Great Storm from the 8.W. done great damage at Mothecome har-
bour, the sea washing down Hime kiln'.

May 17 Landed 25 things at Stoke Paint’,

June 11 Holbeton Annual Fair and Cattle Show',

June 12 ‘Keeping up the Fan



June 28 ‘Queen Vietoria erpwned. Dinner given by subscriplion Lo all the Poor People
and Children i this Parish, Processin of the greater parl of the inhabitants of the
Parish., Mysellhead the Processin with a Drawn Sword, Mace; about 500 dined’,

Sept 10th 'At Plymouth, seut ¥ Hundred Weed with G Kivkins to be carvied to
Wales',

et 1My Flenry Friend hung himself, fetehed the Coroner?’,

Nover 28 heard of part of James Chinowald’s Cargo washing ashore, being a grenl
storm in which Jn. Reeves Cargo was all lost and several vessels wrecked- the Bhza of
Cowsand and Coargo lost, Philip Kingeome, Wm . Joenking, T Langdon and James Hardy
drawtied’.

1849 Jan b 'Left Elolbeton by the Subscription Coach from Erme Bridge on the trial
of Elizabeth Smade for stealing fowls from her Master MreMay. Found guilty and sen-
lenced to 4 weeks hard lahour in Bridwell, 2 weeks ol that Lime to be solity conling-
ment’.

On February 18 Michaet landed 86 things at Rider’s Hole, Tn June he assanlted the
Collector of Laira Bridge { Plymouiht tolls for which he was fined 5/- at Yealmpron
Sessions.

There was then a gap in the diory wilth a few entries for 1840 followed by a long gap
of 23 years until 1863 March 10 when he “attended tea ol schoplehildren held in play-
ground on occasion of marrisge of Prince of Wales tn Princess Alexandra’lafterwards
King Fdward Vil), )

So Michael Evens never had a dull moment and was obviously a man of initiative
and intelligence, Not many could vead and write al that time, and he presumably also
amasased a fair amount ol cash which enabled one of his sugcessors to farm at
Ramsland, Holbeton as well as twi others who were landlords of the George [on in the
same parish.One of them in 1810 was vespansible fare Land Pax valuntions {or the
partsh. There was an Evens in the village until the late 18605, The original of Lhis diary
is still in the hands of the Byens family,

Relerences:

L Fvens — visil to Franee 1884 West Devon Record Office ACC1217.
2. Evens — Memorandum of Dy Oceurrences 1836 (n the avthor's possession).

AL L. Sayers CBE has been farming in the parish of Holhoton, South Deven for
ther last 45 years. He was an elected member of Devon County Council and o a
period its Leader and Chairman. In his retivement he s writing a history off
Holbeton,

MINISTRY OF HOME SECURITY WAR BOOKS
IN THE SECOND WORLD WAR.

Ian F Angus

Possibly of more interest in 200 yeirs time, addways supposiog thad, by Lthen, anybody
will be able to read’ - so wrote Lthe erstwlille commander of the Lympstone Home
Couard platoon, in his covering leller to the Lympsione War Boeol which he passed to
the rector for safe keeping in 1855, In 1987, during a cleavance of the rectovy, a file was
spotted beneath the stairs which il was thought might interest wme, and go an intervest-
ing piece of local history was saved from the bonfive,

At frst sight, the Lympstone War Book was not. o very impressive laoking decument,
being hand written on some twenly-two sides of toolseap. If soon beeame obyious that it
was written Lo some sort of standard formatl or proforma. Sadly its author did ot
always repeal the question or heading of the prolorma but mevely wrote In the answern
However, some of the questions becowme apparent rom the answers, and the lack of othe-
ers does litlle to detract from the general interest gontained in the War Baok, with its
fascinating details of local personalities, where they were Bving, and whal they were
doing. It 15, in fact, a little gold mine to anyone interested in village alines w1944,

According to the Tmperial War Museum, in the fhee of the Uurest of o Gerwan inva-
ston of this country in 1840, alt local civilizm responsibilities were made the concern of
Invasion Committees’, cach of which looked after the intecests of its own distriel.
These commitiees were to prepare War Hoolts in aecorduance with a standard proforma
issied by the Ministry of Flome Seeurity. Should hosty evacuation become necessary,
the war books wore to be destroyed. There ave twenty-two parls starting wilh a stale-
ment of the perecived Toead invasion threal and continuing as a very detailed list of
tocal assets and personal responsibilities with loeation and tetephone number of the
various key individuals,

The petuad composition of the invasion commitiee gives a good idea of the bmuount of
nrganisation that the theeat of invasion brought into heing in the early 19405 A note
on the frand caver, probubly by the same hand but seemingty a different pen, gives the
dites af six meetings of the Invasion Committee, the first on 14 October 1941 and the
last van L8 April 1944, This suggests that there must have been a lol of activily gy
hefore October for achievement of the degree of organtsation stated in the War Book.

Headed by a chairman and deputy, with a nominaled operational and alternative
headguarters, the committee comprised representatives from the Police, Aiv Raid
Precautions (ARP} including National Fire Service (NFS), Flome Guard, and Women's
Voluntary Service {WVS) There were Parish Organisers, a Voluntary Food Organiser
and the Exeter Food Executive Officer’s liaison officer. The local doctor spoke far facal
medical arrangements and the Pari=h Council had Lwo representatives, both of whom
were heavily involved in varvions aspeets of the committec’s work and, indeed, one wis
its chatrman. Many of the funclivns in Tomp=tone were headed by parent bodies in
Exmouth. Police control came undeor an Inspector and n Serpeant at the Exmouth
Police station to whom Lymypstone’s Policeman Constable aod twelve specials reporled.

Part VII entilled ‘Police’ is of particular iand probably wider mnlerest as it specilies
the policy and duties of the poltee which must have applied generally rather than just

LIRS

in Lympstone. Two states were speeilicd, *Stand To' and "Action Stations’. On ‘Stand To
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heing ordered, the police were to entovce the ‘Stand Fivw’ policy by controlling the
roids snd any mavement of population likely to interfere with the operations of the
armed faves They were also to enforee thy immabilisation of vehicles and control the
thisplay of notices. There wore additional dutios related ‘Lo Seeurity which could not be
tisclosed’. When ‘Action Stations’ was ordered, inaddition to the above the police were
ta assist Che wilitary in immobilising pelrol pumps, Contingent on mititary require-
ments, roads needed by the military ab certain periods mighl be closed to all traffie
olher than that of an aperationat character, AL olher times when such drastic vestrie-
tions wore not necessary, civilinn vehicles with EL labels might be allowed freedom of
movement. Police were to man bharcciers at (ho exits from the town and non-essential
vehicles were to be immobilised in convenient parking grounds, Pedestrian teaffic was
alzo to be controlled.

This ‘Stand Firm’ policy is inleresting to compare 1o the elaborate arrangements dur-
ing the Napoleonic invasion threat for flying the country’ It scems the 1940 lessons
learned In France, where refugees had clogged roads and impeded the movement of
military vehicles, were quickly taken to heart and policies put in place to avoid a simi-
far state ol aflairs. Things did happen quickly in 1940, the threat of imminent invasion
quickening authority’s reactions and obtaining & rapid response in a time when ‘aclion
this day’ orders were accepted withont demur. It roight alse be of passing intevest Lo
nole an apparent inconsistency between the ministey’s imstructions Lo destroy war
hooks ‘should hasty evacuation become™ecessary’ and Lhe police duty to mmplement a
‘wtand firm’ policy!

The ARP and NFS arrangements in the village were also conlrolted from Exmouth,
In the village there were two group wardens and lourteen wardens, including two
specilically for the school. There were then fhur squads of Fireguards, each with a nepm-
inated leader, covering specified parts of the village, with lour auxiliory {ivelighicrs
whao could be called upon in an emergency. The Watten Brook had heen dammaed in
three places where eonercte troughs enabled lire engine hoses Lo draw off water Thore
were no public or private air raid shelters and the committes decided oot fo dig slil
tronches in the belief that ‘plenty of shelter was Lo he Jound in deep lanes with high
hanks', suggesting this policy had been devised beline oir raids started in earnest,
Neither were there any provisions in Lympstone fme decontamination following wias-
tard gas o similar atlacks.

There were sixly-four members of the foead Home Guard plataon, the War Book
recording it Very few, say 5 leaving us to guess whether this reterred to equipment or
Lrained personnel!

The Local Food Officer made arvangements for cight days’ emergency rations to be
siored in Lhe village and for the local store to be used as 2 distetbution centre, S mem-
bers of WVE and seven othoers were nominated Lo help with the distribution while
arrangements Far an emergency field kitchen behind the Village Hall woere made.
Moembers of the WVS were trained under a Group Housewife to provide hot drinde in an
emerganey, ta shelter casuallies until help acrived, to care for invalids and the aged and
to azsist muthoers with small childeen. The WVS also helped in the Rest Centre and held
@ stare of clothing, The local doctor set up a FPirst Aid Point in his own house, staffed by
Bimself and one trained nurse and the distriet nurse, There was a Brst aid parcty of two
partly truined nueses. Accommodation could he provided for ten in the doctor's house
and one hundred in the bMethodist Schoolroom, normally used as a service canteen, hut.
it appewrs there were only three actual beds availuble, Stretchers were located at three
points arnel instructions issued on how to get the wheeled bier out of the church,
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There were plans to set up vest centres at three locations catering for 113 people
under the supervision of the rector. There were also provisions for billeting soldiers
‘passing through’s 154 buing in private houses sud 400 in eight local bamns, Two locat
builders were noled us spurces of emergency labour supported by ‘all the fishermen
who are al home’. The two builders could provide planks. poles, ladders, wheelbarrows,
picks and shovels. It was alsu noled that there were two picks and shovels available in
the ARP squad giving the impression that such items were in refatively shit supply,
Two loeal farmers would be able to provide (o horses, three wagons and three corts as
emergency transport.

Emergency supplics of water were to he obteined [rom local wells and pumps but the
public were to be warnixd to boil all water for drinking. An interesting schedule lists the
location of cighteen pumps known to be working soul a further eleven thal ‘eould prob-
ably be made to work’ In Part XX dealing with 'Sanitation” the anthor again fails to
repeal the guestion leaving the reader Lo pander, with @ certain amount of trepidation,
on the answer o, Old Loundry b Old Fire Fighting Fiekd, sardens. b, {blanky.

A messenger service was to he ran by st Lympstone Company, Boys Brigade,
mounted on eyeles, Infbrmation was ta e conveyed by nolice boards localed outside the
Police Station and the Chuveh, Louwdspeaker vaus were also mentioned.

The Wor Book concluded hy cammenting on the movhid subject of the burial of the
dead. making the remarclably oplimistic comment. that theve was ‘ample space in
Lymupstone Churchyard and the reassuring view that Mr Tapscott, ehurchwarden and
undertadeer, having had extensive expericnce of mortuary arvangements in the RAF
during the last war, would be guile capable of making all necessary arrangements’ - in
Lhe emevgency morluary ta be selowp in the Otd Drill Flall,

The War Book names some sevanty individualsiexceluding members of the Home
Guardy, their addresses (including telephone nwmbers) and their responsihilities. [t
gives an idea of thre greal willingness of people prepared to take on various duties and
Lo he of service to others in emergencies during World War Two. In Lthe main, they must
have been the middle aged or older members ol the village, the younger ones heing
either in one of the services or intending to join.

The Imperial War Museum was pleased to copy the Lympstone version as this
brought its collection of War Books up Lo Lthree! Al the same Lime we ‘lent” Devon
Record Office o copy which was the first it had received. Considering that in 1940 svery
town and village in the cuimtry must have been charged with the task of preparing one.
it seems astonishing that only three versions ever reached Lhe War Muscum and only
one the Devon Record Office. This led me to do a quick traw] of the Record Dffiees in
the Soulh West and [ found that the West Devon Area has none, Dorset Lhree,
Somerset four and Cornwall nincteen. which may or may not he the Mimistry of Home
Securily version. As yel [ have not had the opportunity of seeing whether the Public
Record Office has a copy of the original proforma o any completed war bunks,

The defenee of Britain project was launched lociaBy at o symposium held in Exeter in
June 1995 when { briefly mentioned War Books and suguested people niight be on the
lonk-out for them.

{lan Angus, TD, B.Sc., is o northeountryman but has lived in Devon {or 35 years, He s
vice-chairman of Lympslone Loceal Fistovy Society with o particular interest inaspects
concerned with the srmed services. Since completing his articte he has civendated all
Record Offiees in the South West wilh conselidaled hsis of the results ol his W Baale
studies. )

Lo
o



THE DEVON SMITHY, WHIMPLE.

R Shepheord

If you have ever travelled the A30 between Exeter and Hontton and dared to take
vour eyes away from the deluge of Lraffic heading weslward, you will have
noticed nestling amongst the trees in the fork of the junelion Lo Otlery St Mary a
rather interesting looking building in & unigue style. Oulside is displayed a sign
“The Old Devon Smithy — Bed and Brealfasl Accommodalion’. The present intori-
or decoration is somewhal different Irom that which existed in 1929 when the
building was [irst constructed by James Arthur Radford Stevenson, or “JARS as
he became known in the area.

Born in 1901, Stevenson was Lhe son of a propecty owner in Yorkshive, He was
educated at Harrow which he lelt in 1919, After Lthis he spent six years not know-
ing what Lo make ol his life. e had held a short service commission in Lhe RAT,
worked al a beneh in an aiveraft factory and was at one Lime a freelance journal-
ist and then a reporter on a London daily paper. [n 1825 he went Lo Canada in a
tramp-ship with Lthe idea of finding a job of work there, but was unsuccessful.

In January of 1926 al the age of"twenly-five he became anxicus aboul his
future and decided that he would gsettle down in New Zealand and he a farmer.
Whilst wailing for a ship Lo take him there he appreunticed himsell to the black-
smith at Payhembury, where he learned Lo shoe hovses. He had made friends
with the miller, Donald Granger, in 1924 and became quite atlached to Tuck Mill
where he eventually took lodgings. His home was in the Budleigh SBaltecton area
and his mother Look him Lo his lodgings on Monday and fetehed him again on
Saturday.

He oeeasionally woukd mend farm implements and when time permitted he
would make pokers, tongs, shovels and such-like trifles and it gradually became
clear to him that he liked working in ivon, Thereafter his ideas about New
Zealand underwent a change and he began looking for a smithy of his own. With
the help of his father he set about looking for a suitable establishment,
Wandering the countryside between Prickly Pear and Ottery St Mary in June
1926 he heard the ringing of an anvil and eventually found the source of the
sound at West Hill. The smith was a friendly old person ealled Harvy Potler with
whom he struck up 2 conversation. There was litlle discussion and by a simple
transaction, sealed with a tankard of cider apiece, the smithy became his and
Harry Potter stayed on to work for him. He christened that forge 'The Deven
Smilhy’.

In two years [rom first picking up a hamwmen, he became the ownev of an estab-
hshed smithy with an experienced workman on hig staff. The people of West LIl
thaought he was ‘barmy” and referred Lo him as ‘that upstart young blacksmith’.
‘But’, he sald ‘the Devon folk have warm hearts and gentle instinets and always
gave me a greeting and a friendly word even when they were down on their fuck’,

He continued to work with Harry Potter, improving his skills in the art of deco-
rative wrought tron work, Fis mother was obvicusty an excellent advocate and
this brought him several commissions from the Budleigh Salterton area and from
many aristocralic connections. His workload continued to increase from titled
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persenages throughout the country and early in 1927 he extended thoe smithy al
West it and engagoed Ted Slott Lo help cope with all the orders.

[n January 1929 he secuved a large order for Lthivieen baleonies for Henry
Glave Ltd, drapers in New Oxford Strect. The largest of these was L9 Gin in
length, and working conditions al West Hill became extremely eramped. So, with
the aid of ‘A kind uncle’, the Rt. Hon., Walter Runciman, he bought the land al
Straighlway Head [rom Major Imbert-Terry and commissioned his friend, the
archilect FLT. Robertson, to design the new building. He wanted to make that
smithy unique in its way and wished it Lo be Lhe hest tooking place that could be
built with the money available. “The specificalion was a good one; Robertson had
seon 1o Lthat, providing for the finest bricks and tiles and English Oak and Vita
ghass for the windows',

In May 1929 the construction was woell under way and in Oclober the building
was complete. The move From West FlIll was accomplished in one day with the
loss of only one day's work, The new smithy had been wired and a conerele bed
laid in the engine-room, and clectric power was provided. The building scen
today is virtually the same in outward appearanco as when it was first construel-
il

Samples of the workmanship from the Devon Smithy which can now be seen
include:- 13 % high gates ot SWER, Moo Lane, Sowton, Exeter, made oviginally
for the Exe Valley Bleetricity Company; entrance gates for the home of Eden
Phillpolts, the author, al Broadelyst, and for Sir John Kennaway at Escot estale;
tarpe decorative hinges for Buckfust Abbey; weather vane on Harpford Chureh;
twa pairs of gates for Mrs. Luttrell of Dunsler Casile, and the Miller Memoriat
Crates in the Bill Yard at Harrow School. There are many others.

The mosl exciting moment in the history ol the Devon Smithy came one morn-
ing in the sarly part of June L9331, *Arvrviving al Lthe Smithy [ found a letter
addressed Lo me from the Crown Bstate Office, Windsor Greal Park. IL wished to
know whether T would be preparved to carry out work for FIRH. The Prince of
Wales al Fort Belvedere, the Prince's Sunningdale Residence. On August 10th 1
received the intimation that T was to proceaed with the making of a grille. Tt was a
great honour tor the Smithy and [ was determined that we should pul fine worlk-
manghip into that pieee’.

For that work he hoped for a Royal Appointment but i was never awarded,

There was a constant strequm of visitors to the Devon Smithy, one of wham was
HRH. The Duke of Connaught on Wednesday 9 December, L8931, Hector Whistler,
cousin of the famous artist, lived in Whiniple for a while and did some design
work for “JARS. He scratched his signatwre in a window at the smithy, and it is
still there today, as is an insceription by Benno Moiseiwitsch, the lamous pianist.

Afler purchasing for himself a brand new Rolls Royee ‘JARS eventually sold
the husiness to Heonry Lewis, the Tocad builder, in 1938, Stevenson was jusl thir-
ty-soven years of age at this time and had been in business as a blacksmilh for
twelve vears, His reasons for selling up after such a relatively short career are a
mattor of some speculation,

Stevenson’s influence remained after his departure and a number of features
and destgns were prevalent in the work which followed. Ted Stotl remained the
senior smith for some vears and Jack Lovering, whom Ted trained, was his able
asststant. The present Whimple Chwrch gates are a product of this skitled duo
and they display & number of smithing techniques of the Stevenson ora.
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The informalion for this piece has come mainly from Lthe book The Div of o
Sraithy written by Stevenson in 1932, although there arve still people locally with
recollections ot him. He also published a booklet called Crafty Smiths but a copy
of this has not vt came 1o light,

Whimple Hiztiry Saclety conducted a symposium on LA R, Stevenson and the
Devon Smithy on Friday 8 March 1996 and there was an excellent attendance
despite a cold and stormy night. Aay further information would be welcomed by
Lhis society. Please contact the seoretary, Mrs, D. Rastall on 01104 B22486 or the
chairman, John Shepherd, on 0 404-822076.

iR. L Shepherd is Chatrman of Whimple Fistory Sociely)

STOP PRESS

Owing to unforeseen circumstances, it will not be possible te hotd the DS
Spring mecting at Lympstone, as announced at the AGM. ostead, the meeting
on 5 Aprit will be held at Woodbury. (Delails arve being cireulatud to members),

REVIEWS

[Readers are advised that opinians expressed by reviewers are their pwn and not nee-
essarily those of the Rditor or of the Devon History Seclety as a whole?

Devon Household Accounts 1617-59, Part It Sir fichavd and Lady Reynell of Forde
{1627-15:, John Willoughby of Leyhill {1644-6) and Siv Bdward Wise of Sydenham
(1665-9), edited with an Introduction by Todd Gray, Dovon and Cornwall Record
Society, New Sewves 38, 1905, 1ii + 232 pp. Coptes available at ELS (rem the Society, 7
The Close, Bxeter, BXY 1EZ. ISBN 0 901853 38 1.

This is a delightful baok, o Coreline Horn of Plenly. Dr. Todd Gray has used Wis coustd-
arable experience in ediling histvieal manuzeripts and his deep koowledge of Davon
locul history in editing three honsehold accounts of the first half of the gseventeenth
century. The work is of exceptional interest and schotarship and will both augment aond
illmninate this branch of social history.

Although the necounts together cover a period of rising religious and pelitical contro-
versy culminuting in the years of the Civil War and the Cammonwealth, and reler to
the collection of Parliamentary taxes, the forced maintenance of parrisons and Lhe cost,
and ellects of Hilleting turbulent and unsaintly soldiers in the houses of the gentry,
they are primarily concevned with recording basic iterms of household expenditure,
They were kept meticulously, week by week, a remarkably complete vecord of the pur-
chase of food and drink, of building repairs, journeys, medical core bestowed on both
humans and animals, juxuries, garden needs, the wages of both indour and outdoor sov-
vants, craftsmen and itinerant labourers, together with items of clothing. Their prime
function was 1o keep 1 chock on all expenditure, aveid waste and prevent fraud: the
arithmetic was faultless.

In his substantial Introduction Dy Gray emphasises that the households of the gen-
try, swollen as they were with relatives, servants amd officials, were in no way compara-
ble in grandeur and expenditure with those of the aristooraey. They do, however, pra-
sent a microcosm ol such living and all three of these accounts indicate that the Devon
ganlry of the early-gevenieenth century lved vory well indeed.

To counteract the mevilable menotony of the accounts themselves Dy Gray doscvibes
the genealogy and background of eachy of the families, Maps and his own photographs
complement the text and ananalysis is provided of the commodilies available to each
honsebiold, Heve is mlinite variety and the diversity is convincingly explained by the
tocation ol each household, its proximity (v sea o river, local markels and Fairs, the city
of Exvter and aceess o a port with overseas connections ov the superior markets of
London, Beasonal vaviety of supplies ix very marked. One houschold will buy immense
quantitics ol very cheap oysters, another enjoys salmon and the relatively-expensive
rabbit. Iy Gray draws atteulion to the large sums expended on spices, wine, dried
fruits and sugar, notably for wedding=, funcrals and, especially, for chrigrenings. Fven
civit war caused Httle economic distarbance. Pricos did nol vise appreciably, there was
ua uhivious searcity, and labour was always available. Legisiation and public opinion
may have deprived the nalion of its minee pies at Christuas but in these gentry house -
holds Lthere was no lack of turlkey or salmon piozs,

A rather more complete Glogsary of obsolete words might have been helptul to read-
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erg, but this is o miner desideratum in a bnole of outstanding intorest to which readery
will often retirn with pleasure and anticipation — a book for all seasons.
Ann Cronne

History of the Naval Victualling Department and its Association with
Plymouth: by Len Stephens, 1996, 76 po. llustrated, the Old Plymeuth Society, £2.50,
incl p + p, from 625 Budshead Read, Whillelgh, Plymouth PLS 4DW.

The author has produced a compact history both of the methads of viclualling the roynl
ships from the Middle Ayes down to the present day and of Plymouth’s part in supply-
ing the fleet with ils food, drink and related stores, Thie medieval system of placing the
responsibility on Lowns lor providing fully equipped ships was replaced andev the
Tudors by o network of cantractors supplying in wartime hoth the vegsels of the porma-
nent fleet and those Laken up by the Crown, Under Elizabeth T there was o general
supervision by the newly furmed Victualling Office in London but much depended on
the probity of the contractors. In Plymouth the Hawkins family cornered Lthe business
but shartage of supplies and cash made the victualling of Howard's ships in 1588 diffi-
cult, but the men were fed. Thix was mare than could be said for those in the squadrons
sent to Cadiz and Rhe under the comrupt administration of Buckingham's protege Siv
James ihottomless) Bagge in Lhe 16204

With the Commonwealth Plymouth got @ resident agent of the Navy Commissioners
who set up office at Lambhay overlooking Sutien Harbour on tand which was to
become Lhe Navy's main viclualling yard in the South West, From then on development,
continued steadily. The completion of Plymoeuth Dock meant an awkward distance of
three miles hetweon the twa yards. Local interests deleated vepeated proposals to build
a new victnalling establishmend al Empacombe on the opposite side of the Hamonze
and so the Laanbhay site was extended to include another bakehouse and more stoves.
A brewery was set up on the Carnish bank. Many basic ralions were by now furtished
by the Londen Victualling Office bul as the eighteenth century continued more and
more biscuit, beer and meat was provided from Plymouth. Towards the end of the cen-
tury the victualling yard had eighty-six storehouses and other buildings at Lambhay
but its separation from Plymouth Dock and the ships lying in the Hamonze was prov-
img ever more inconvenient. In 1824 Sir Jolhn Rennie was commissioned to desigm what
was to bt known as the Royal William Yard. Completed in 1835 and held to be one of
the grandest monuments of nineteenth century England, it contained the most modern
stenrn driven cquipment for milling, baking and brewiny ns well as facilities for all the
stores previously held at Lambhay.

From the middle of QueenVictoria’s reign the nature of the stoves hegan to change -
meat came n ting and not tu casks — and there were far more items connected with the
improved condifions for scamen, including uniforms, These changies eontinued in the
twentieth century. The yard cseaped damage in both wars and its facilities wore con-
stantly being adjusted to meet the changing needs of the Navy Then in 1985 tho gov-
ernment announced its closure which was comipleted in 1992, The Navy'’s victualiing
was transferred tu the NAAFIL

The author is understandably sad at the ending of this part of Plymouth’s relations
with the Rayal Navy and at the apparent lack of auy real plan for the yard’s future. [t
is a pity that Plymouth and Whitehall together could not have decided on the civilinn
use of the Royal William during the long period of its rundown. It {5 not. practical to
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Loss a few million to a local authority and to tell them Lo get on wilth the developmeat of
an historie building as a means of ereating employment and lourism while at the same
Linte preserving its historte chivacter. This s a problem likely to be of continual con-
cern Lo historians, Mr Stephens has told his fascinating story well and concisely. The
ilustrations, both line drawings and photographs ave good. My only vegret is that he
did not find it possible Lo include a plan showing the whereabouts of the places men-
tioned.

Adrian Reed

Shipwrecks of the South Hams. The Wreckwalkers Guide to the Coast Path from
Erme to Dart by Kendall MeDonatd, Wreckwalker Books, Cradles Collage,
Thurtestone, Devon TRT ANT. 1996, (32pp. illustrated. £8.95 or £11.00 (rom publisher
(ine, ppi. ISBN 1 87133018 1,

The south Devon coast from the Erme to the Dart with its deceptive bays, high cliffs
with ruck strewn bases and offshore hidden reefs hos been the destruction of many
ships over the centuries, The author’s earliest wreck s around 100 B.C. and his latest
1992, The causes in the days of sail were generally three: inathitity to find the ship’s
position, storm damajie which made the ship unmanageable, and faulty navigation in
taking the ship too cluse inshore, or a combination of these. The author gives plenty of
examples. With continnal bud weather making it impessible to take observations by
day or night a master forecd to rely on dead reckoning and his lead line could mistake
Finisterre for the Lizard mif bound for the Dristol Channel miss it altogether,
Steamers were equally vulnerabie to fog and also prone to stand too close inshore but
they could ride out most gales, thouyh, with the sailing ships they were exposed to the
risks of war -

The author divides the const path info six separate but comtinuous walks, each with
a map indicating the posilion of its wrecks. Of these there s seldom anylhing to see
except the aceasional rusly bow plate or boiler ot low tide, Further out boats and flags
may indicate divers exploring one. However, there are o fow accessible beaches on
which fragments of Chinese porcelain and even coins have heen tuund but you must
buy the book to find out which these are! Relics of some of the ships can be seen locally
or in museums, A fow are in or near the pubs conveniently placed, wnd recommencded
by the author, to refrosh the reader.

Bach of the seventy-two wrecks chosen i3 deseribed with an necount of the events
leading to the loss of the ship concerned where this information is available. Naturally
theve is none ahout the Bronze Age tin trader but wost of the others are well docu-
mented. There are only a dozen earlier than 18300 and seveval of these are warships
and so the subjecl of official inquiries. The greatest losa of Hfe was in HMS Ramiflies
off Belt Tail in 1760, the most ominous for the future the Russian petrolewm carrier
Blesk which in 1898 hit the Gray Stone and in breaking up is claimed to have given
Europe its st large oil slick. Move happily, the Albert Medal was instituted as a result
of briavery in saving life from one ship. Indeed, there are many storics of courage both
by Coastguards and Lifeboatmen as well as by volunteers. The introduction of the rock-
et launched line was perhaps the most important zid to saving lite on a rackbound
coast. Ineidents of the malfreatment, of aurvivers are not recovded after the eighteenth
century but the last wreek looted was in 1992!

The illustrations are helpful: in particidar as many of the photographs shaw the
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ships on the rocks which they hit so letting the veader fix the posttion of the aclual
wreeks for himsell. The vessels selected are interesting and the houlk ean be read with
pleasure even by those not minded to fallow the coastal footpatiy.

Aclrign Reed

Exploring the Lower Walkham Valley, by Paul Rondell, Forest Publishing, 1994,
38pp, 2 2 Ul 14 « b&w, E3.00,

Paul Rendell is a well-established Dartmoor guide, whe has previously produced usefl
pamphlets and articles, aimed at awakening people to the joys of walking and exploring
Dartmoor and particolarly its interesting past. [n this booklet we are guided through
the Jower seclion of the Walkham valley, ane of south-west Dartmoor’s lesser known
‘gems’ and an avea filled with vemains fom pust industries. The bnok has chaplers on
mining. lesser industries, viaduels, Grenoten Manor, flora and founn, A sixeh chapter
guides us through the route of a suggested wilk to oxplore the valley, There are two

well-annotated maps depicting features mentioned in the text and there is o total of

fourteen monochrome photographs, showing views and life in the area in times past. At
the rear nf the boaklel is o Clossavy, Bibliography and i list of useful addresses.

The style of the text ix generally quite easy to read though one or two clumsy sen-
tences should have been wended out al the editing stage. Thore is o good deal of back-
pround historieal informntion, though sadly none of it is referenced, so fucther investi-
wation by the reader would be diffieult. However, as this is essentially a guide book per-
laps this can be excused. The glossary of mining terms is far from ecomprehensive and
several terms used in the text are missing such as stoping’, ‘whin', ‘mortarstones” and
gangue’. The largest seetion of the booklel covers mining of eopper, lead, tin and

arsenie. Mining pracesses and techniques are explained where apprepriate and brief

site deseriptions of six of the main mines in the valley ave given, together with loca-
tions of the smaller sites, all with 08 grid reforences, offering 4 goad basis for the read-
ot to commence exploralion. Lesser industries, which ineludes the rather bizarre mill
that once produced violin sleings and sausages, are given less ottentian, and are sum-
marvized on a single page. The use of old photographs in all sections ol the bonk adds
zreatly to the interest, For example the images of the Grenofen Viaduet, which has
since bren demolished, record a view witich is very ditferent today. Flora and fauna
likely to be cacountered while exploring Lthe arew are deseribed in chapter 3, wheve the
author encourages us to be obsorvant ab all times. The suggested walk offered, which is
clearly marked vn one al the maps, takes in many of the sites mentioned in the text
and includes olher impertant information such os location of amenities. which 08 map
to take, and how 1o el to the start point uging the bus,

Altogether this booklet is 2 good introduction to the Lower Walkham Valley which
will greatly enhaunce the explorations of those new lo the aren and ot just £3 1s pood
vatue,

Phil Nvwmnen
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The Chureh on the Hifl: an account of the church, people, and parish of
Buclktastleigh by Helen Harvis. Devon Books, 1996, 96pp. illus, £8.95. Royalties to
chureh funds, ISBN | 86114 807 6

It was a very special pleasure, for several reasons, to veview Helen Haorris's latest
work. Her research is always therough,; she wriles in a pleasant, [viendly way and pre-
senls hey material in 2 model form which should he fullowed by all writers of lncal his-
Lory. On this tecasian hawever she writes from persanal knowledge, being born not far
from the churely and baptised in its Norman font. There sre two other veasons why [
have particuturly enjoved reading The Cluerch on the Hill, My last task as a profession-
al librarian was o move Buckfastleigh libvary to a new home and this taok me through
the town on many oceasions, bat (6 gave me Hitle thne to ook into the little byways Lo
the left and right of Chapel Stroet and elsewhere: Inter [ was o see iLs oatline against
the sky as [ made weeldy vigite along the A38 on my way Lo worl in the lihrary at
Buckfast ahbey

Thiz well-documented work  tells the story ol the town and the history of Buckbast
Abbey and its monks (and other now long-gone events like Lhe races) but its main
object iy o recosnk the story of the Church of Holy Trinity throughout its history, to
record what happened an the night of the arson attack in July 1992 and to tell what
has been done so far Lo restare its fabric, Mes Hurriss 97-year-old aunt was a life-long
worker for the Chorch nnd it is with a personal teeling of losg that, this section is writ-
ten. One important conservation task has been completed. The font, oviginally thowght
to be damaged beyoud repair, has been vestored; it is now in 3t Lukie's Church and
again used for haptisms.

Another ancestor, her maternal great-great-grandmother Helena Lowisa Woreall
played o majar role in the developmemt of parish education in Buckfastleigh. All was
nob well oL the school in 1849; its ‘Master not wild and gentle enough, Mistress quite
inefficient™ Lile in many other small towns, the Church of England had a noncon-
formist rival, a British Schoul with nearly as many pupils.

The stovy of the notorious Cabells is wel-known after recent givings in the ‘media’
and the square sepulehre iz thaniliar to all visitors, s bars being said to keep Cabell in'
rathor than Lo prevent iHegal eolry from outsice.

Pinadly a note of congrutulation Lo Devon Books; the quality ol both text snd ilustra-
Lioms B exeellent. There is also adetailed index.

’ John Pike

The Hd Plymouth Society has published il third information booklel, "Tracing
Plymouth’s EHlistory through Memorials, Tablets and Plaques’. This is a valuable piece
of work hy Kay Bush, with w list of 124 and a map on which many of the locations are
marked.
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Minutes of the 26th Annual General Mecting held in the School of Education,
University of Exeter, 19 October 1996,

Presenl: the President, Dr Basil Greenhill wn the Chair; 38 memboers of the Society
[names listed in attendance register].

Before the stavt of business, the Chairman. Mr Adrian Reed, invited memhers to
ohserve a minute's silence in remembrance of Professor Walter Minchinton [d. 25 Aug,
19961, former Chairman of the Socicty and honorary life meinber.,
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Apologies: Miss P Costella, Mr A, Gore, I A Grant, Ir % & Mrs B, Grecves,
Professor N. Orme, Mrs M. Stanbrook, Mr R, Stanes,

Minutes: of the 25th AGM 1995, printed in DH 52, were confivmed and signed.
There were no matters arising.

Hon, General Secretary's report: Mrs 8. Stirling veported that the Hon. Editor, Mrs
Helen Harris, had given u talk on the Society and its journal at the Devon Local
History Week in Februarvy. The Society had contributed to the publication of a
Festschrift to the vetiving County Archivist, Mys Margery Rowe, in recognition of
her great services to local history, The Hon, Secretary had attended the presenta-
tion in June. Officers of the Socviety welcomed Professor Christopher Elvington out-
side the Cathedral during his nationwide ‘Hike for History' in August, raising
funrds for the vevival of the Vietoria County History, to which cause the Seciety has
made a modest cantribution.

Both March (Crediton} and July (Chulmieigh) conferences were well attended,
proving agdin the importance of involving the loeal society wherever meetings ave
held. Thanks were expressed Lo Mr K. Stoneman for organising the Crediton meet-
ing and for his talk en Crediton chavities. A talk on Crediton Church was followed
hy a meal in the Boniface Centre and Professor Roger Kain'’s illustrated talk on
Devon tithe maps. Anne Evans, Richard Bass and members of the Chubhmleigh &
District Histovy Society provided an interesting and enjovable day, ending with an
adwventurous exploration of the ruins and new huilding works at Eggesford House.

Council meetings had concentrated on projects te benefit members: firstly, at the
instigation af the Chaivman, Mr Reed, the compilation of a local history handbook
hid heen put in hand; secondly, thanks to the efforts of the Treasurer, Mr Haydon,
the Saciety had pursied ways to foster interest in local history in scheol children.

Memhers of Cauncil had greatly appreciated the President and Mrs Gresnhill's
invitation to visit Cotehele, followed by tea at Bohetherick,

Murs Stirling thanked the Hon. Membership Secretary, Mr J. Pike, for providing
the lists and labels which made possible her thrice-yearly mailings to members,

The President thanked Mrs Stirling for her report.

Report on membership: The Vicechairman and Membership Secretary, Mr J. Pike,
emphasised the need to recruil, since membership had fallen from past levels of
500-600 to the current 334, He recommended a policy of each one bring one. Five
members of Council had recently attended seminars for primary scheols in Devon
tn discover how the Society could strengthen links with schoeols and foster pupils’
interest in local history. Professor 4. ¥Youings pointed out that teachers were often
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no longer resident. in the village where theiv school was situated and the weed was
for local volunteers from the Society to tall to children in schools about their vwn
history. Miss M. Bird suggested recruitment could be improved by oiTering practi-
cal help to those wishing to sel up a loeal society, cspoeeially in drvafting a conslitu-
tion. Mr [ Maxted, referring to the projected Handbook, said that the scetion on
‘Betting up a Local History Society’ might be published shead of the complete
work. The Treasurer suggested that affiliation at a reduced fee, instead of the cur-
rent corporate membership subseription, might encourage more local societies to

Jjoin the Devon History Society.

The President concluded the discussion by recommending word of mouth as the
hest way to win new members.

Hon. Treasurer’s report: Mr E. Haydon veparted on the Anancial year from t May
1995 to 30 April 1998, Following an increase in rates, subscription income had
risen by some £1,70), sales had fallen to £10 but there had been a reduction in out-
goingts an postage and fees. The Suciely had for the first time an excess of income
over expenditure ol £56. However members would observe that the Savings
Account had inereased by sorae £1,900 and so the veal excess of income approached
£2,000. The President warmly conpratulated the Treasurer on his accounts, which
were approved by the meeting. A vole of thanks was proposed to Mr A W F Gore,
who was once mere appoitled as the Society’s ofticial independent examiner for
19946-7.

Hon. Editor's report: Mrs H Harris veparted that The Decan Historian nos. 52 and
53 had been published and civeulated, with a good variety of articles and county-
wide coverage, though more material on west Devon was needed. Ag the millenni-
um approached, Mrs Harris recommended local historians to record events of the
present century, Contributory” stamdards of presentation (as required in the jour-
nal, p.2) contmued to improve, though the necd for double-gpacing was still some-
times overlooked. Members were reminded that the deadline for issue no.54 was
30 November.

Election of President: The Chairman thanked Dr Greenhii} for his three-year term
as President, during which tine he had been a gouree of adviee and supporl to the
officers. A formal vote of thanks was passed by the meeting. In veply, Dr Greenhill
atated that it had been a great pleasure to sevve the Soctety and he and his wile
looked forward to its strengthening over the years. Dr Greenhill then nominated
v Harnld Fox, a distinguished academic and founder member of the Society. as
his successor. This was approved by the meeting, Dv Fox took the Chair and said
his nomination was a great honour in view of the lustre of past Presidents, His
first paper contributed to The Devon Historian had been in 1973.

Election of Cfficers and Council for 1996-7. The curvent Officers were proposed,
seconded and elected. The three Council members standing down under the three-
year rule (Dr A, Grant, Dr T. Gray, Mr S. Timms) were re-elected en dloe. Dr T
Greeves and Mr P Rendell having vesigned, Mr R. Bass and Dr 5. Bhanji were pro-
posed. seconded and elected to the vacant places sn Council. Professor J. Youings
would again be co-opted to Council and Mrs A. Langridge had alse heen invited to
serve,
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